IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OSCAR RAY BOLIN,

Appellant,

Case No. SC08-1963

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

______/

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY
STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ANDREA M. NORGARD ATTORNEY AT LAW FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 661066

P.O. BOX 811
BARTOW, FL 33831
(863)533-8556
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal arises from the denial of the Appellant, Oscar Ray Bolin's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851 by the trial court after an evidentiary hearing. The record on appeal consists of four volumes and one supplement. The volumes are sequentially numbered and will be referred to in the Initial Brief by the volume number followed by the page number. The Appellant will be referred to by his proper name and the prosecuting authority, the State of Florida, as the State.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 19, 1991, a grand jury for the Sixth Judicial Circuit, in and for Pasco County, Florida, returned an indictment against the Appellant, Oscar Ray Bolin, for the first-degree murder of Terri Lynn Matthews on December 5, 1986.(I,1-2)

Mr. Bolin was convicted as charged, however this Court reversed the first conviction in 1995. See, Bolin v. State, 650 So.2d 19 (Fla. 1995) Mr. Bolin was retried and again convicted as charged. This Court again reversed in Bolin v. State, 736 So.2d 1160 (Fla. 1999). Mr. Bolin was

tried and convicted as charged a third time. This Court affirmed the conviction in <u>Bolin v. State</u>, 869 So.2d 1196 (Fla. 2004). The mandate issued on April 1, 2004. (I,68) Errors which occurred during the third trial are the subject of this appeal.

Mr. Bolin filed his Motion for Post Conviction Relief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851 on January 9, 2006. (Supplemental Record, 498-543). Mr. Bolin raised six grounds for relief: (I) Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the testimony of Danny Ferns regarding his testimony that he saw blood on the ground; (II) Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to call a witness, Ray Bolin, Sr., who could have rebutted the testimony of Danny Ferns regarding the identification of the substance as blood; (III) Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to impeach witness Michelle Steen through cross examination and by calling Phyllis Bolin to testify as to the bias, prejudice and dislike that Ms. Steen had for Mr. Bolin; Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to call a witness who would have testified that Michelle Steen had admitted to giving false testimony at trial; (V) Mr. Bolin's waiver of his right to testify was involuntary due to misadvice of counsel; and (VI) the aforementioned errors

resulted in cumulative error.

The State's Response to the Motion for Post Conviction Relief was filed on February 6, 2006.(I,116-123) The State agreed an evidentiary hearing was needed on claims II-VI, but objected to a hearing on Claim I.(I,116-123)

The trial court conducted an evidentiary hearing beginning on November 16, 2006, before the Honorable Stanley Mills, circuit judge. The following summarizes the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing:

Rosalee Bolin testified that she has been married to Mr. Bolin for ten years.(III,235) Mrs. Bolin has worked as a private investigator for fifteen years.(III,235) Mrs. Bolin first met Mr. Bolin through her employment with the Hillsborough Public Defender's Office where she served as the project manager for alternate sentencing and mitigation.(III,247) Mrs. Bolin as asked to work on Mr. Bolin's Hillsborough county cases.(III,247) Mrs. Bolin has testified in previous trials involving Mr. Bolin as a penalty phase witness.(III,248)

Mrs. Bolin first became involved in this case in 1995 when she was hired by Paul Firmani and Dean Livermore in preparation for the 1996 retrial.(III,236) Mrs. Bolin did not work as an investigator in the first trial.(III,237)

Mrs. Bolin became aware of a witness named Michelle Steen in this case when she was reviewing some police reports that contained a statement from Steen.(III,238) Mrs. Bolin was aware from other sources that Steen was the wife of a co-defendant of Mr. Bolin in a criminal case in Ohio.(III,238) Mrs. Bolin learned that Steen was a witness in this case.(III,239)

Sometime in 1996 Mrs. Bolin, with the permission of the trial attorneys, contacted Ms. Steen to determine if she had, in fact, given a statement to law enforcement that Mr. Bolin had essentially confessed to the crime in this case.(III,240)

Mrs. Bolin testified that when she contacted Steen in 1996 Steen was shocked to learn that she was a potential witness.(III,240) Steen claimed to Mrs. Bolin that she had not been contacted by anyone and had not even known that a police had been generated from report her Steen told Mrs. statement.(III,240) Bolin remembered giving a statement to law enforcement couldn't remember the exact content.(III,240) Steen said that at the time the police were very confrontational with her and that she did not want to speak to them. (III,241) Mrs. Bolin read Steen the statement contained in the police

report and Steen denied ever making that statement.(III,240) Steen said the police report was a lie.(III,241) Steen told Mrs. Bolin that Mr. Bolin had never confessed to her.(III,241-42)

Steen then appeared as a state witness in the second trial in 1996.(III,243) Mrs. Bolin was present in the courtroom during Steen's testimony.(III,268) Steen testified that she had been talking with Mr. Bolin and he stated he killed a girl in Florida and put a hose down her throat.(III,369) This testimony was consistent with the statement that she had given to law enforcement. (III,239) Mrs. Bolin recalled that another investigator with the public defender's, George Fought, was called as a witness by the defense in 1996 and testified that Steen told him over the phone that Mr. Bolin had never made any statements to her.(III,270) Mrs. Bolin did not testify to impeach Steen in 1996.(III,271)

After Mr. Bolin was convicted, Mrs. Bolin called Steen on the telephone to ask her why she had testified in that manner.(III,243) Steen told Mrs. Bolin that law enforcement had forced her to come to Florida and to testify according to the police report by threatening to take her children if she refused.(III,243) Steen said she

was sorry, but that she was scared and intimidated.(III,243) Steen was sobbing during the phone call.(III,243)

After the 1996 conviction was reversed, Mr. Bolin was again tried. John Swisher [lead counsel] and Sam Williams [penalty phase counsel] were Mr. Bolin's counsel.(III,244) Bolin was hired by Mr. Swisher to serve as the investigator in the case.(III,244) Mrs. Bolin worked with Mr. Swisher to prepare the case for trial.(III,244) Bolin told Mr. Swisher about her prior contacts and conversations with Michelle Steen.(III,245) She also told Swisher about George Fought's conversations Steen.(III,271;273) Mrs. Bolin would have been available to testify as a witness at trial in 2001.(III,245) Mrs. Bolin was not called as a witness.(III,274) She asked Mr. was not used, but did not Swisher why she get a reason.(III,274)

Attorney John Swisher testified that he was in private practice in 2001 and was appointed to represent Mr. Bolin.(III,284) Sam Williams served as co-counsel.(III,285) Mr. Swisher was aware that there were two prior trials in this case and had read the transcripts of those

proceedings.(III,285;320) Mr. Swisher also read the prior opinions from the Florida Supreme Court in this case.(III,321)

Swisher hired Mrs. Bolin Mr. to serve as the investigator on the case.(III,297) Mr. Bolin made choice to have her, but Mr. Swisher wanted her well.(III,297) Nothing passed by Mr. Bolin without going through Mrs. Bolin and vice versa.(III, 298) Mrs. Bolin was used for contact with Mr. Bolin's family members and client control.(III,298) Some other people also worked on the case, such as Susan Pullar.(III,298) Mr. Swisher was responsible as lead counsel for ensuring that the necessary investigative work was done in the case.(III,299)

Mr. Swisher recalled that one state witness in 2001 was Danny Ferns.(III,285) Mr. Ferns was a childhood friend of Phillip Bolin.(III,286;323) Mr. Swisher recalled that Ferns testified to seeing some blood outside the trailer a few days after the crime.(III,286;323) Mr. Swisher recalled that Mr. Ferns came forward after the fact, but he couldn't recall how long a period of time elapsed.(III,286) Fern's testimony was significant because it confirmed the presence of blood on the grass and corroborated the testimony of Phillip Bolin.(III,285)

Phillip Bolin was Mr. Bolin's half brother.(III,286)
Phillip had given several conflicting statements about what
he observed.(III,286) At one point, Phillip had recanted
what he claimed to have seen.(III,287) As part of
Phillip's testimony, Phillip claimed to have seen Mr. Bolin
using a hose to wash off a body.(III,323) Mr. Swisher
believed that this testimony was inconsistent with Danny
Fern's claim to have seen blood on the ground because using
the water would have washed away any blood on the
ground.(III,323) Mr. Swisher made this argument to the
jury.(III,324)

Mr. Swisher was familiar with serology and testimony of both serologists and crime scene technicians.(III,288) Mr. Swisher acknowledged that often presumptive testing is carried out on substances at a crime Samples are analyzed in a scene.(III,T290) lab determine what they are and if blood, whether it is animal or human, and what blood type is present.(III,291) those instances, the experts will usually refer to a substance as "apparent" blood, but not actually blood because the substance has not been tested.(III,289)

Mr. Swisher believed that a lay person could offer their opinion that a substance was blood under the evidence

code.(III,292) Mr. Swisher acknowledged that there is a difference between a witness saying something <u>is</u> blood versus saying that something appears to be blood.(III,292)

Mr. Swisher agreed that in this case it was important to minimize the impact of Phillip Bolin's testimony that there was blood at a crime scene.(III,293) It would be appropriate to object to a witness rendering an opinion that it is blood.(III,294) Mr. Swisher did not object to Fern's rendering of his opinion that what he saw was blood.(III,294) Mr. Swisher agreed that a boy of thirteen would not have a very good background in identifying a soil stain or something on grass as blood.(III,295) Mr. Swisher could not state that he had a tactical reason for failing to object to Fern's testimony, but that he tried to attack his testimony in other ways.(III,295) Mr. Swisher then stated that if he followed up with Ferns with other questions he would have had a tactical reason to not object.(III,296) Mr. Swisher could not remember if he did, in fact, follow up to discredit Fern's testimony in other ways.(III,296)

Mr. Swisher testified that Ray Bolin, Sr., is Mr. Bolin's father.(III,296) Mr. Swisher talked to Ray Bolin

during the period of time he represented Mr. Bolin, but did not recall if he talked to him about Danny Fern's testimony.(III,297)

Mr. Swisher recalled that part of the defense was that hoses were on the property.(III,300) He could not recall if he had talked to Bolin, Sr., who would have told him that when he left to go on the road with the carnival any water hoses would have been taken along.(III,300) Swisher knew that Bolin, Sr. was out-of-state at the time of the homicide on the carnival circuit.(III,325) Mr. Swisher believed that the issues of whether or not the water hoses were taken became a joke during the trial based the jury's laughter during the State's closing on argument.(III,300) Mr. Swisher thought it was probably a mistake to use Bolin, Sr. for the hose testimony.(III,300)

Mr. Swisher was aware that prior to leaving on the carnival circuit, Bolin, Sr., had used red paint to touch up some items in the area outside the trailer.(III,301) Mr. Swisher believed the painting occurred several days or weeks prior to the homicide.(III,301) During cross an excerpt from Bolin, Sr.'s 1996 trial testimony was read and Bolin Sr. testified he left the Tampa area in November.(III,325) Mr. Swisher considered using Bolin,

Sr., to testify, but was told by both Mr. Bolin and Rosalee Bolin that Bolin, Sr. and his wife, Trudy, would not be good witnesses.(III,301) Mr. Swisher could not recall specifically talking to Bolin, Sr. about the paint issue or making an attempt to determine his credibility on that point despite Bolin, Sr. being present in Florida during the trial.(III,303)

Mr. Swisher had paid to have Bolin, Sr., brought to Florida at the time of trial.(III,299) He talked to both Bolin, Sr. and Trudy Bolin prior to penalty phase and determined that they would not be good direct witnesses.(III,301) They were not the brightest people in the world.(III,301) Mr. Swisher thought it was a disaster to try to prove a case using mom, dad, and the wife as witnesses.(III,302)

Mr. Swisher believed that Michelle Steen was a lady that was indirectly related to Mr. Bolin and was the wife of his co-defendant on some Ohio charges.(III,303) She purportedly had some conversation with Mr. Bolin about killing a lady in Florida and Mr. Bolin saying he stuck a hose down her throat.(III,303) Mr. Swisher recalled that Steen claimed to have thought that Mr. Bolin was joking and didn't believe him.(III,303) Mr. Swisher couldn't recall

whether or not Steen testified that the hose was turned on.(III,305) Mr. Swisher thought that Steen came and testified as a witness in the trial to that conversation.(III,303)

Mr. Swisher admitted that Steen's mention of the hose inconsistent with the physical evidence, but was was consistent with the testimony of Danny Ferns and Phillip Bolin.(III,304) Mr. Swisher did not think that Steen's testimony was tactically detrimental to Mr. Bolin at trial.(III,304) Mr. Swisher testified that whether or not his decision was right or wrong, it was tactical decision to "let them go to this hose thing to a certain extent because it wasn't consistent with the medical examiner."(III,304) The medical examiner said there was no hose down the victim's throat, so Mr. Swisher believed if he could show there was not hose, then "you don't believe Phillip Bolin, you don't believe Danny Ferns, and you don't believe Michelle Steen." (III,305) Mr. Swisher did not believe Steen was damaging and believed the jury would disregard her testimony that Mr. Bolin had confessed to a murder to her because Steen thought Mr. Bolin joking.(III,308) Steen was not damaging in Mr. Swisher's

opinion because she couldn't say when it happened, who the victim was, or when Mr. Bolin had made the statement.(III,308)

Mr. Swisher could not remember if Phyllis Bolin was Michelle Steen's mother-in-law.(III,306) Mr. Swisher was aware prior to trial that there were witnesses who would testify that Steen admitted to having lied in her trial testimony, namely Rosalee Bolin.(III,306-07) Bolin's relationship with Mr. Bolin affected his decision to not use her as a witness. (III,312) Mr. Swisher sent that Mr. Bolin discussed using Mrs. Bolin witness.(III,338) An agreement to not use Rosalee was reached because of her experiences when testifying in the prior trials.(III,338) The letter acknowledged that Mr. Bolin might not agree, but Mr. Swisher believed as the trial Bolin was began, Mr. in agreement with the Mr. Swisher felt that Mrs. decision.(III,338-39;IV,492) Bolin's presence as a witness would be a large distraction and the case would be compromised if she testified or was present in the courtroom.(III,353) She generated a great deal of publicity due to the personal relationship with Mr. Bolin.(III,350-51) Mrs. Bolin's role in the case as an investigator was not compromised.(III,353)

Mr. Swisher did not hire a different investigator to Steen because he didn't think Steen Swisher also did not damaging.(III,312) Mr. different investigator because Mr. Bolin and Rosalee Bolin did not suggest that he do so.(III,313) Mr. acknowledged that Mrs. Bolin worked very hard on the case.(III,353) He has used Mrs. Bolin as his investigator in other cases, even after this trial.(III,352)

Mr. Swisher did not recall a second witness from the 1996 trial named Mr. Fought from the public defender's office that could also impeach Steen, despite claiming to have read and briefed the transcripts from the trial that contained Mr. Fought's testimony.(III,307;333) Mr. Swisher agreed that if Steen admitted on the stand that she had lied, that confronting her with the prior inconsistent statements would be important and would also be important if impeachment of Steen was going to be done through other witnesses.(III,306) Mr. Swisher's theory of defense was that there was no hose, despite Steen and Phillip Bolin, because there was no medical evidence a hose went down the victim's throat.(III,309) Mr. Swisher noted that "Obviously it didn't work, but that was a tactical idea I

made."(III,309) Mr. Swisher also observed that a lawyer would not necessarily want to do things again that had been done in prior trials that were not successful.(III,334)

Swisher acknowledged that in certain decisions made during the trial the defendant is the "captain of the ship."(III,313) One of those decisions is whether or not to testify.(III,313) Mr. Swisher could not identify any other areas where the client decision controls.(III,313) Mr. Swisher believed that the attorney's role in making strategic or tactical decisions was make to а recommendation and then the lawyer has the final call.(III,314)

Mr. Swisher discussed the right to testify with Mr. Bolin.(III,314) There were several discussions leading up to the trial.(III,336) He didn't recall how many meeting there were prior to trial.(III,336) Mr. Swisher recalled talking with Mr. Bolin during the trial.(III,335) Mr. Swisher, Mr. Williams, and Mr. Bolin were present.(III,335) Mr. Bolin told him he wasn't going to testify.(III,315) Mr. Swisher believed he talked with Mr. Bolin about the pluses and minuses of testifying, but he couldn't recall what those were at the evidentiary hearing.(III,315) The discussion was not very lengthy because Mr. Bolin already

had his mind made up that he wouldn't testify.(III,316)

Mr. Swisher knew that Mr. Bolin didn't have any prior testimony to be used as impeachment, but was aware that he had convictions from Ohio.(III,315) Mr. Bolin could be asked if he had ever been convicted of a crime and how many times.(III,316)

Mr. Swisher didn't recall having any discussions with Bolin Williams evidence about rule admitted.(III,316) Whether or not Mr. Bolin testified would not affect anything to do with Williams rule evidence.(III,316) Mr. Swisher identified the procedure the State has to use regarding notification if it intends to present Williams rule evidence, but did not know if notice was required if the Williams rule evidence was offered as rebuttal evidence.(III,317) Mr. Swisher did not recall talking with Mr. Bolin about whether or not the prior Florida homicide convictions could be used Williams rule evidence- he did not think they could be used as prior record because the convictions had been set aside at the time of trial.(III,318) Mr. Swisher was pretty sure that the state attorney, Mr. Halkitis, had told him that they were not going to use the Florida cases in the case in chief because he did not want the case to get reversed

again.(III,321) The reversal in 1991 was due to the improper use of <u>Williams</u> rule testimony from the Florida cases.(III,321) Mr. Swisher didn't think there was any issue about them coming up as rebuttal evidence.(III,319)

The court recessed without concluding the proceedings because two defense witnesses were not available. Further, Mr. Bolin, who intended to testify, was not feeling well and asked to postpone his testimony.(III,356-358)

The following testimony was presented on December 22, 2006:

At the onset of the hearing, defense counsel advised the court that he believed that Mr. Bolin had made the decision that he would not testify the at proceedings.(IV,402) Mr. Bolin was placed under oath by the trial court.(IV,434) Mr. Bolin acknowledged that at the November 2006 hearing, there were some discussions that indicated that he would testify.(IV,435) Since that date, Mr. Bolin had spoken about testifying with counsel.(IV,435) Mr. Bolin stated that he did not want to testify.(IV,435) It was his free and voluntary decision to not testify and he further stated he wished to waive his presence.(IV,435) Mr. Bolin told the court that he did not believe that postconviction counsel had pushed him in any direction about

testifying or not testifying.(IV,439)

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