IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OSCAR RAY BOLIN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC08-1963 L.T. No. 91-521 CFAWS

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE MARIA DIAMANDIS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 069116
katherine.diamandis@myfloridalegal.com

STEPHEN D. AKE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0014087
stephen.ake@myfloridalegal.com
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

CO-COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in denying Bolin's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. Following an evidentiary hearing, the trial court concluded that Bolin had failed to establish deficient performance where trial counsel's tactical decisions were reasonable. The trial court's factual findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence, and the legal principles were properly applied in denying relief.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVIE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO DANNY FERNS' TESTIMONY THAT HE OBSERVED BLOOD ON THE GRASS? (Restated by Appellee)

Bolin challenges the trial court's rejection of his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel with regard to the handling of witness Danny Ferns. As this claim was denied following an evidentiary hearing, the trial court's factual findings are reviewed with deference and the legal conclusions are considered de novo. Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1033 (Fla. 1999).

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are controlled by the standards set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), the United States Supreme Court established a two-part test for reviewing claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, which requires a defendant to show that (1) counsel's performance was deficient and fell below the standard for reasonably competent counsel and (2) the deficiency affected the outcome of the proceedings. The first prong of this test requires a defendant to establish that counsel's acts or omissions fell outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance, in that counsel's errors were "so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." 466 U.S. at 687, 690; Valle

v. State, 705 So. 2d 1331, 1333 (Fla. 1997); Rose v. State, 675 So. 2d 567, 569 (Fla. 1996). The second prong requires a showing that the "errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable," and thus there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 695; Valle, 705 So. 2d at 1333; Rose, 675 So. 2d at 569.

Proper analysis of this claim requires a court to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight and evaluate the performance from counsel's perspective at the time, and to indulge a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable all professional judgment; the burden is on the defendant to show otherwise. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. See generally Chandler v. United States, 218 F.3d 1305 (11th Cir. 2000); see also Kimmelman v. Morrison, 477 U.S. 365, 384 (1986) (counsel must be afforded presumption that he performed competently). "[W]hen a defendant fails to make a showing as to one prong, it is not necessary to delve into whether he has made a showing as to the other prong." Preston v. State, 970 So. 2d 789, 803 (Fla. 2007) (quoting Whitfield v. State, 923 So. 2d 375, 384 (Fla. 2005).

Bolin's allegation that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to Ferns' testimony is without merit. After a hearing on this issue, the trial court held:

Defendant claims that counsel should objected to the improper opinion testimony from a lay to whether the substance was as counsel Defendant claims that had objected, evidence would have been excluded from the trial. Defendant further claims that he was prejudiced by the admission of the testimony because it corroborated the testimony of Phillip Bolin, whose credibility was otherwise at issue. Additionally, the failure object prevented the issue from being raised on appeal.

Generally, lay witnesses are not permitted to testify as to their opinions. However, section 90.701, Florida Statutes, provides an exception to that rule when:

- (1) "The witness cannot readily, and with equal accuracy and adequacy, communicate what he or she has perceived to the trier of fact without testifying in terms of inferences or opinions and the witness' use of inferences or opinions will not mislead the trier of fact to the prejudice of the objecting party; and
- (2) "The opinions or inferences do not require a special knowledge, skill, experience, or training."

Although there may be other ways to say it, the witness probably could not accurately convey to the jury that the substance looked like blood without using the word blood. Had Ferns simply said that he saw a red substance, it would not have conveyed the essence of what he observed. An intelligent person with some degree of experience may testify as a lay witness to what they observe. See Jones v. State, 440 So. 2d 570 (Fla. 1983), citing Peacock v. State, 160 So. 2d 541 (Fla. 1st DCA 1964). In this case, the

witness testified that he observed blood. See Trial Transcript, pp. 874-875.

Defendant's objection to the testimony is partly that Ferns stated that he was sure it was blood, rather than that it appeared to be, or looked like, See November 16, 2006 Evidentiary Hearing blood. Transcript, pp. 66-67. Even if counsel had objected, the testimony would not have been excluded. The State or defense counsel would simply elaborate on Ferns' testimony by further establishing that he could not know to a scientific certainty that the substance was actually blood. There is little danger in this case that the jury was misled by the testimony to believe the witness had scientifically tested substance to determine that it was, in fact, actual human blood from the victim. The witness' testimony revealed that he was approximately 13 years old and an elementary school student at the time of the murder. Moreover, the See Trial Transcript, pp. 871, 885. State elaborated on Danny Ferns' testimony that he saw blood by questioning him as to whether he had ever seen blood before and whether he had any doubt that substance appeared to be blood. See Trial Transcript, pp. 874-875.

Mr. Swisher testified at the evidentiary hearing that he doesn't recall whether or not he objected. See November 16, 2006 Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, pp. 68-70. Nor does he recall specifically why he would have objected, but posited several tactical reasons why he might not have done so based on and depending on what other testimony followed opinion. See id. During Defendant's trial, Mr. Swisher attempted to show that the victim's body was allegedly sprayed with a hose for several minutes and there was no blood visible on the ground at the time of the murder, yet Danny Ferns testified that he saw a three foot circle of blood on the ground several hours later when Phillip Bolin brought him home after school. Trial Transcript, pp. 524, 778-780, 823-826, 882-885; November 16, 2006 Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, pp. 97-98.

In this case, Mr. Swisher's hypothesized tactical reasons why he may not object coincide with what

occurred at trial. An attorney's decisions regarding trial tactics are not subject to attack in a motion for post conviction relief. See Buford v. State, 492 So. 2d 355 (Fla. 1986). Furthermore, the testimony would not have been excluded even if counsel had An objection would only result objected. clarification that the witness could not be certain the substance was actually blood. Between the State's attempted clarification regarding Danny knowledge of blood and the testimony that Ferns was a 13 year old elementary student at the time of the murder, there is sufficient clarification that the witness was testifying as to what he observed and not that he was testifying as to any scientific certainty that the substance was blood. This claim is denied accordingly.

(PCR 2/135-36, 141)(emphasis supplied).

When questioned at the hearing regarding Ferns' testimony, Swisher, a seasoned trial attorney, explained that he may have made the decision not to object to Ferns' testimony, instead opting to show that his testimony was not credible. This was a strategic decision. Thus, Bolin has simply established that current counsel disagrees with trial counsel's strategic decision on this issue. This is not the standard to be considered. On the considered.

_

⁹ Although trial counsel may not have recalled his exact reasoning, he stated he reviewed the prior trial transcripts (PCR 3/319), wherein Ferns' testimony that he saw blood was admitted over defense counsel's objection that Ferns was not qualified to give an opinion. See Record on Appeal, Bolin v. State, FSC #89,385 (V. 12/909-11); (transcript attached to Motion to Supplement filed simultaneously with the Answer Brief of Appellee).

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689; Rutherford v. State, 727 So. 2d 216, 223 (Fla. 1998) ("Strategic decisions do not constitute

A review of the record reveals and supports Swisher's strategy. During his opening statement to the jury, Swisher advanced his theory regarding Ferns' testimony. He told the jury that Ferns would testify he saw blood on the grass even though the body was hosed off (8/524).

Regarding Phillip Bolin's account of the events of December 4, 1986, Phillip testified he witnessed Bolin straddle Matthews' body and strike her several times with a club (R. 15/775-78). According to Phillip, after Bolin stopped beating Matthews, Bolin turned on a water hose, stood over her body and sprayed the body (R. 15/778-79).

The next day at the bus stop on the way to their elementary school, Phillip told his friend Danny Ferns what happened (R. 15/786, 809, 871). After school, Phillip and Danny returned to the property where Philip testified, on direct examination, blood was on the grass where the body would have been (R. 15/787). Upon cross-examination, Phillip testified the hose

ineffective assistance if alternative courses of action have been considered and rejected"); Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1073 (Fla. 1995) (noting "standard is not how present counsel would have proceeded, in hindsight, but rather whether there was both a deficient performance and a reasonable probability of a different result"); see also Rivera v. Dugger, 629 So. 2d 105, 107 (Fla. 1993) ("The fact that postconviction counsel would have handled an issue or examined a witness differently does not mean that the methods employed by trial counsel were inadequate or prejudicial").

produced a "steady pour" for a few minutes and there was a lot of water (R. 15/825-26). Thereafter Swisher asked Phillip:

Q: And you still didn't see any blood, right. A: No. No.

(R. 15/826). (emphasis supplied).

Danny Ferns was called next to testify. At the time of his testimony, Ferns was 26 years old (R. 15/870). After testifying he saw blood on the grass, the State asked Ferns if he ever had seen blood before and if he know the color of blood (R. 15/874). testified in the affirmative to both questions. Regarding the blood, Ferns was asked if he was comfortable enough in his own mind that what he saw "appeared" to be blood, and if there was any doubt in his mind what he saw "appeared" to be blood (R. 15/874-75). Ferns answered both questions in the affirmative. At the time he saw the blood, Ferns was 13 years old (R. 15/885).

Swisher questioned Ferns regarding the amount of blood he saw. Ferns eventually stated there was "a decent amount" of blood that covered an area as big as a "three-foot circle" (R. 15/882). Further, upon cross examination, Ferns was asked if he saw "fresh blood" to which he responded in the affirmative (R. 15/883). Swisher would later refer to what Ferns saw as a "three-foot puddle of blood" (R. 15/887). Ferns was questioned regarding the hose. Ferns testified the hose came from the

mobile home and it was real close to the blood (R. 15/883-84). He described the ground where the blood was as "beat up," "stirred up" (R. 15/883). Ferns then testified that other than the blood, the grass was dry (R. 15/884).

During closing argument, Swisher asked the jury if they wanted to "buy" the "story" of Danny Ferns that blood was present in a three-foot circle. Swisher noted that there was no evidence of blood on Matthews' clothes. (R. 19/1559). He argued:

How about the clothes? Any blood on the clothes? If there was you would have heard about it.

(R. 19/1559) (emphasis supplied).

Trial counsel cannot be deemed ineffective merely because post-conviction counsel disagrees with trial counsel's strategic decisions. Occhicone v. State, 768 So. 2d 1037, 1048 (Fla. 2000); see also Henry v. State, 948 So. 2d 609, 619 (Fla. 2006) ("We have repeatedly rejected claims of ineffective assistance of counsel when the allegedly improper conduct was the result of a deliberate trial strategy."). Where, as here, trial counsel acted strategically, Bolin has failed to establish trial counsel's performance was deficient. Henry, 948 So. 2d at 619; Occhicone, 768 So 2d. at 1048.

Furthermore, where the State's questions and the witness's answers were proper, Bolin cannot establish that counsel's

failure to object "resulted in prejudice sufficient to undermine the outcome of the case under the prejudice prong of the Strickland test." See Chandler v. State, 848 So. 2d 1031, 1046 2003) (Fla. (where comments not error prejudice not established). "Acceptable lay witness testimony typically involves matters such as distance, time, size, weight, form and identity." Fino v. Nodine, 646 So. 2d 746, 748-49 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994). Further, as this Court has noted, a "lay witness may give opinion testimony so long as the opinion testimony does not mislead the trier of fact." Gardner v. State, 480 So. 2d 91, 93 (Fla. 1985). Lastly, this Court has noted on many occasions the identification of blood by a lay witness. Thorp v. State, 777 So. 2d 385, 390 (Fla. 2000) (defendant seen with blood on his clothes); Rose v. State, 774 So. 2d 629, 632-33 (Fla. 2000) (witnesses testified Rose had blood on his person); Davis v. State, 586 So. 2d 1038, 1040 (Fla. 1991) (witness observed victim lying in pool of blood); Moody v. State, 440 So. 2d 989, 991 (Fla. 1982) (witness saw puddle of blood on floor); King v. State, 390 So. 2d 315, 317 (Fla. 1980) (witness observed blood on defendant's pants).

As the trial court noted, the witness probably could not identify the substance without using the word "blood." Ferns had seen blood and knew the color of blood. As noted above, the

prosecutor questioned Ferns whether the substance "appeared" to be blood. The prosecutor's questions simply asked if Ferns saw what appeared to be blood. There was nothing objectionable about this and Ferns surely could be cross examined on his observations. It takes a stretch of the imagination to suggest that anyone could possibly have thought that thirteen-year-old Ferns had scientifically tested the substance and confirmed his observations.

Even if Ferns' testimony was objectionable, the result of the trial would not have been different and thus prejudice under Strickland cannot be established. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 695. Assuming Ferns simply testified that Phillip Bolin took him to where Matthews' body was and the ground was disturbed and wet with a fresh, red substance, this testimony too would be significant corroboration of Phillip's testimony. Furthermore, as this Court found on direct appeal, the State offered other testimony which corroborated Phillip's account of the murder:

The State presented other corroborating evidence, which included the testimony of Rosie Kahles Neal. At the time of the murder, Neal co-owned with her now-deceased husband Kahles and Kahles, Inc., the business that employed Bolin as a tow truck driver. She testified that the truck Bolin was driving on the night of the murder was not returned that night, and she thought the truck had been stolen by Bolin because he could not be located and it was the first call he had handled by himself. Neal testified that Bolin was late coming to work the next morning, was wearing the same clothes as he had the day before, and had a foul

smell. She further testified that Bolin played with and carried a knife and got excited when the story of the missing girl, Mathews, [sic] was reported on the news. Her testimony also corroborated the murder weapon, as she testified that she gave Bolin a "tire buddy" on the night of the murder. The tire buddy was a two-foot-long wooden club, which was drilled out and filled with lead.

Michelle Steen also offered corroborating testimony. Michelle Steen was married to Bolin's cousin, David Steen. In 1987, while Bolin visited their home, he volunteered that he had killed and beaten a girl in Florida and put a hose down her throat, and that Phillip had watched him do it.

Bolin, 869 So. 2d at 1198-99. Additionally, Phillip's description of Matthews' body wrapped in a sheet, shoeless, with pantyhose was corroborated by the fact that she was found wrapped in a sheet, shoeless, and wearing pantyhose (R. 13/551-52, 576, 618, 620; 15/774-75, 781-82).

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